




Town of Southern Shores 
5375 N. Virginia Dare Trail, Southern Shores, NC 27949 

Phone 252-261-2394 / Fax 252-255-0876 
www.southernshores-nc.gov 

 
 

February 26, 2019- COUNCIL PLANNING SESSION MINUTES 
 

February 26, 2019 Minutes:  The Town of Southern Shores Town Council met in the Pitts Center located at 5377 
N. Virginia Dare Trail at 9:00 a.m. on Tuesday, February 26, 2019 to conduct a planning session. 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Bennett, Mayor pro tem Chris Nason, and Council Members Fred 
Newberry, Jim Conners and Gary McDonald. 
 
 OTHERS PRESENT: Fire Chief Ed Limbacher, Town Manager Peter Rascoe, Deputy Town Manager/Planning 
Director Wes Haskett, Finance & Human Resource Officer Bonnie Swain, Town Clerk Sheila Kane and Town 
Attorney Robert Hobbs 
 
CALL TO ORDER / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE / MOMENT OF SILENCE 
Mayor Bennett called the meeting to order at 9:00 A.M., led the Pledge of Allegiance, and held a moment of 
silence. 

 
 
SOUTHERN SHORES VOL. FIRE DEPT. FACILITIES CONSTRUCTION AND FINANCING REPORT (CHIEF LIMBACHER) 
Council received a brief update from SSVFD Fire Chief Ed Limbacher on the current progress of site clearing and 
commencement of construction of his Department’s new fire station. Also present at the planning session was 
Town Attorney Robert Hobbs to brief the Council on the SSVFD lender’s communication of requested changes 
to the current 10-year contract between the SSVFD and the Town of Southern Shores. Sometime after the 
Town entered into the new contract, the Town Attorney and Town Manager were notified by the lender’s local 
closing attorney that due to the type of financing mechanism being provided the SSVFD by its lender, certain 
changes in the SSVFD’s new contract with the Town were being requested in order for the lender to protect its 
security interest. Attorney Robert Hobbs presented three documents for Council consideration/approval. 

o Comprehensive Declaration of Easements 
o Assignment of Fire Services Contract 
o Amended and Restated Fire Services Contract 

 
MOTION: Mayor Bennett moved to approve all three documents as presented by Town Attorney Robert 
Hobbs. The motion was seconded by Councilman Conners and passed unanimously (4-0). 

 
 

http://www.southernshores-nc.gov/


 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
TOWN FACILITIES ASSESSMENT REPORT - OAKLEY COLLIER ARCHITECTS, PA (TIM OAKLEY AND ANN COLLIER)  
At Council’s February 20, 2018 Planning Session meeting Council unanimously voted to direct the Town 
Manager to budget for a facilities assessment in the FY2018-2019 budget (Motion made by Mayor Bennett and 
seconded by Council McDonald).  
 
Town Manager Peter Rascoe stated the Town Hall building itself has three deficiencies noted by staff; work 
flow, confidentiality, and deficiency of space. Also noted by the consultants were security issues, no protection 
for employees.  





 

 

 



 
 
 

BREAK (10:05-10:25 a.m.) 
 

Mayor Bennett called a brief recess. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
BEACH MANAGEMENT PLAN REPORT - APTIM COASTAL PLANNING & ENGINEERING OF NORTH CAROLINA, INC.  
(KEN WILSON)  
 





















 
 

 
 



 
FINANCIAL PLANNING - POSSIBLE BEACH NOURISHMENT - DEC ASSOCIATES, INC. (DOUG & ANDREW CARTER) 
D.E.C. Associates Inc., a Charlotte-based financial consulting firm presented financial planning and options available 
for large projects such as beach nourishment. 







 
 
 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Councilman Newberry stated all three presenters made a point that Southern Shores needs long-term planning. 
There could be significant financial challenges ahead if Council was to consider what was presented today. It 
seems like everything that Southern Shores has done has been just in time. A better job at long term planning is 
needed. He further stated all the presentations were excellent. In April budget items will be considered and how 
we are going to pay for them. 
 
Mayor Bennett stated he agreed with Councilman Newberry long range planning concept and stated it is 
Council’s function. Council needs to be sitting down and figuring what the needs are and how to prioritize them. 
He stated he is willing work with Council, involve staff, and establish some guidelines. 
 
Councilman McDonald stated what Council looked at today has between a 17-24-million-dollar price tag. The 
Fire Department is already out there, an expense that has been budgeted. He said Beach nourishment is 
something we can’t just ignore, so a plan must be developed to do that. The facilities assessment was excellent. 
If you look at the deficiencies, there is a large amount of money that needs to be spent just to bring the buildings 
up to standard. 
 



Councilman Conners thanked the Town Manager for arranging today’s speakers, He stated he thinks this is a 
planning meeting and agrees that a little more formalizing of that can be done but Council needs to work 
together. 
 
Mayor Bennett stated Council working together is critical. Whether Council meets all together in a public venue 
or as individuals on a committee and report back. He stated he would like to hear Council’s thoughts on 
discussing budgeting, financing and a long-range plan. The Mayor suggested a staff and council committee to 
start. 
 
Councilman Conners stated he would like to have more planning sessions where full Council and staff are 
present. 
 
Councilman Newberry stated he would like to hear from the public. 
 
Councilman Conners agreed that he felt public meeting with the full Council involved is the way to go but Council 
needs to find a way to get the public to attend the meetings. 
 
Town Manager Rascoe interjected stating Council may find that it will be pretty easy to get the public in 
attendance once you start talking MSD’s and what it is going to cost. 
 

TOWN MANAGER COMMENTS 
 

Town Manager Peter Rascoe stated the first item Council heard today that needs to be done this current fiscal 
year was mentioned by Ken Willson, a survey in June at the cost of $15,000. Mr. Rascoe recommended that this 
item be placed on the April agenda as a budget amendment for Council consideration. He stated Council will be 
able to then decide if they want to continue with the beach nourishment process for sure. 
 
He further stated Council’s budget planning sessions are coming up in April. The cost of DEC for two components 
of the contract, also the cost of Ken Willson’s firm, can be considered for FY 19-20. These are items Council could 
go along and commit to now, as far as beach nourishment. He stated once Doug Carter is under contract, all the 
things discussed today will fall into place. The question is going to be when and the Town should know by 
tomorrow as to what type of financial commitment the County can provide. 
 
Councilman McDonald stated he would like to see the beach survey budget amendment on the March agenda 
because the project needs to be scheduled for June. Town Manager Rascoe stated the March agenda has 
already gone out and that Mr. Willson said April timeframe is fine. 

 
 

GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT  
1. Paul Borzellino-16 7th Ave-Supports beach nourishment and would like to see northern end included in 

the nourishment project. Thanked Council for paying attention to needs. The financial experts brought 
in for planning session were excellent. 

 
2. Ann Sjoerdsma-69 Hickory-would like a public information session to discuss what went on today. 

Moving faster than what she would like. 
 

ADJOURN 
MOTION: Councilman McDonald moved to adjourn. The motion was seconded by Councilman Conners. The motion 
passed unanimously (5-0). The time was 12:30 p.m. 

 
ATTEST:       Respectfully submitted, 
______________________                 _________________________ 
Thomas G. Bennett, Mayor                  Sheila Kane, Town Clerk 



 
Southern Shores Council Meeting-March 5, 2019 

Page 1 of 7 
 

       1 

 2 

 3 
 4 
 5 

 6 
Town of Southern Shores 7 
Regular Council Meeting 8 

March 5, 2019 9 
 10 
 11 
The Town of Southern Shores Town Council met in the Pitts Center located at 5377 N. Virginia 12 
Dare Trail at 5:30 p.m. on Tuesday, March 5, 2019. 13 
 14 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Bennett, Mayor pro tem Chris Nason and Council 15 
Members Fred Newberry, Jim Conners and Gary McDonald.  16 
 17 
COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: None 18 
 19 
OTHERS PRESENT: Town Attorney Ben Gallop, Town Manager Peter Rascoe and Town Clerk 20 
Sheila Kane 21 
 22 
CALL TO ORDER / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE / MOMENT OF SILENCE 23 
Mayor Bennett called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m., led the Pledge of Allegiance, and held 24 
a moment of silence. 25 
 26 
AMENDMENTS / APPROVAL OF AGENDA 27 
MOTION:  Councilman Conners moved to approve the March 5, 2019 agenda as presented. 28 
The motion was seconded by Mayor pro tem Nason.  The motion passed unanimously (5-0). 29 
 30 
CONSENT AGENDA 31 
The consent agenda consisted of the following items: 32 

o Council Meeting Minutes – February 5, 2019 33 
o Resolution 2019-03-01 Resolution in Support of Continued Funding for The Safe Routes to 34 

Schools Program 35 
o Tax Pick up & Releases 36 
o Budget Amendment #8 - Anticipated increased legal costs for the remainder of fiscal year. 37 
o Budget Amendment #9 - Revenue from new copier provider / pass-through for year’s current 38 

provider cost. 39 
o 2019-2020 GEAC Budget Approval, Interlocal Agreement & Standing Operating Procedures for 40 

Government Education Access Channels. 41 
o Budget Amendment #10 – D.A.R.E. Grant Revenue - for expense of School Resource Officer 42 

Training 43 



 
Southern Shores Council Meeting-March 5, 2019 

Page 2 of 7 
 

 44 
MOTION:     Councilman Conners moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. The 45 
motion was seconded Mayor Bennett. The motion passed unanimously (5-0). 46 
 47 
 48 
STAFF REPORTS 49 
The following Department Heads presented Department reports for the month: 50 

o Town Planner Wes Haskett presented the Planning Department’s monthly report for 51 
February. The Planning Board’s next meeting is March 18th. 52 

o Police Chief David Kole presented his Department’s monthly report for February and 53 
asked the public to remember to lock their cars as there has been several reports of 54 
items stolen from vehicles. 55 

Councilman McDonald asked Police Chief David Kole if there was any update to the vandalism 56 
at 62 Ocean Blvd.  Chief Kole stated it is still an open and pending investigation. 57 

o Fire Chief Limbacher presented the Fire Department’s monthly report for February and 58 
praised all safety personnel involved in the recent fire on Dogwood Trail. 59 

o The Town Manager presented the Manager’s report on operations highlights: 60 
o The Town Manager attended a planning meeting with Town Managers, Mayors, 61 

the County Manager, and the Chairman to the Dare County Board of 62 
Commissioners to discuss protocols for utilizing funds in the occupancy tax, 63 
beach nourishment fund that the county maintains. The county reported by 64 
2022 there will be 7.5 million dollars in the fund available for new projects (this 65 
is not inclusive of maintenance money which has been set aside out of the fund). 66 
There are other areas in the county that need beach nourishment but the 67 
message from the county appears to be that if Southern Shores would like to 68 
participate in the 2022 allocation they would need for the Town to basically pull 69 
the trigger and commit to a project as soon as possible. The soon as possible is 70 
preferably the first meeting in April if Council is serious about engaging in the 71 
beach nourishment project that was discussed by Council on February 26th-72 
Council Planning session. The County reported the next allocation after 2022 73 
would be in 2027. The Town Manager further reported that the 7.5 million 74 
would be the county’s share and Southern Shores would be responsible for 75 
committing to the other half, matching the funds. In running the numbers, the 76 
Town would need to commit to the revenue generated by roughly .08 cents on 77 
the current tax base of the Town. If planning pans out and Council chose to hire 78 
DEC & Associates the revenue possibly could be raised by municipal service 79 
districts, a combination of districts or town wide increase. Southern Shores 80 
would need to come up with the revenue raised by .08 cents town wide in order 81 
to participate. If Southern Shores is serious about the project in 2022 then 82 
Council would need to commit with the county by form of a resolution. This 83 
should be placed on the April agenda and Council could certainly hold a public 84 
hearing at this time. If Council commits by resolution, the recommendation 85 
would be to go ahead and hire DEC and Associates to start planning 86 
immediately. 87 



 
Southern Shores Council Meeting-March 5, 2019 

Page 3 of 7 
 

o Mallard Cove Patio Homes Association has requested the Town take over their 88 
private street and place their request on the April agenda for Council 89 
consideration. The Town Manager has requested a list of documents from the 90 
homeowner association to aid Council in their deliberations. 91 

o Town Attorney Gallop had nothing to report. 92 
 93 
Councilman Conners inquired if the Mallard Cove Homeowner Association had money set aside 94 
for street improvement/repairs and if these funds would be turned over to the Town if their 95 
request is granted. Town Manager Rascoe stated he has not received any information other 96 
than the letter of request. 97 
 98 
MOTION: Councilman Conners moved to add further discussion of the beach vulnerability 99 
report and beach nourishment project 2022 to the April 2nd agenda. The motion was seconded 100 
by Mayor pro tem Nason. Councilman Newberry asked to amend the motion to include a public 101 
hearing on beach nourishment. The motion was amended and seconded by Mayor pro tem 102 
Nason. The amended motion passed unanimously (5-0). 103 
 104 
 105 
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT 106 
Mayor Bennett called for public comment and the following citizens offered comment: 107 

1. Nancy Birindelli-303 Sea Oats-representing the Dare League of Women Voters by 108 
distributing the 2019 Citizen Guide. 109 

2. Anthony Dibernardo-32 Ninth Ave-the most simple, clear and concise way to limit 110 
bedrooms is by using septic. Carolina Designs has the new Saga homes advertised as room 111 
for 100 guests. Is this a quasi-motel, Air B&B? Council needs to be proactive. 112 

3. Ann Sjoerdsma-69 Hickory Trail-ZTA 18-09 has never been subjected to a public hearing. 113 
Preferential treatment with the Mayor’s motion tonight. Not satisfied with disclosure that 114 
Mr. Nason gave at the last meeting in regard to his relationship with Mr. Love-his financial 115 
arrangements, what benefit has he received and would appreciate a recusal ahead of 116 
these motions. “Mr. Love may be threatening litigation. I don’t threaten, but I do think an 117 
ethics complaint is something to be considered”. 118 

 119 
 120 
OLD BUSINESS 121 
Proposal to Adopt Planning Board’s Recommendation (PB) of ZTA-18-09 (Non-Conforming 122 
Lots)  123 
MOTION:  Councilman Conners moved that the Town Council adopts ZTA-18-09 alpha as 124 
presented to the Town Council by the Planning Board at the Town Council February 5, 2019 125 
regular scheduled Town Council meeting. The motion was seconded by Mayor Bennett. 126 
 127 
MOTION: Mayor pro tem Nason moved to be recused from this vote per the Town 128 
Attorney’s guidance. The motion was seconded by Councilman McDonald. The motion passed 129 
unanimously (5-0). 130 
 131 



 
Southern Shores Council Meeting-March 5, 2019 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Councilman Conners stated at the last Council meeting, Council was unable to make a decision 132 
and that seems to be a developing pattern among the Council. He would like to approve this 133 
motion because it solves the original problem, recombination of lots. He stated further 134 
research is going to be taken but he sees no reason to keep delaying and delaying. Both Council 135 
and the Planning Board have done their jobs. It is a very confusing issue and Council keeps 136 
kicking the can down the road. If Council does not adopt this motion, he foresees at least three 137 
months or more before it comes back to Council for consideration. 138 
 139 
Councilman McDonald stated Council sent this back to the Planning Board at their last meeting 140 
and that he recalls this ZTA is only for changing one lot and that he asked that of the Town 141 
Attorney at the last meeting. 142 
 143 
Town Attorney Gallop stated he does not believe that is correct. There are two different 144 
changes, one change does deal with one single lot which he addressed when questioned, but 145 
the second change addresses multiple lots. Also, Council’s action directed staff to go back and 146 
identify all the non-conforming lots and bring that back to Council. That passed unanimously.  147 
 148 
Councilman McDonald stated the other thing is that the Planning Board did not act on ZTA PB. 149 
They voted on 18-09 at their meeting and directed it be corrected and he stated he assumed it 150 
would come back and that would be PB. 151 
 152 
Town Attorney Gallop stated that is incorrect. The Planning Board voted to recommend with a 153 
specific change and that recommendation with specific change is ZTA 18-09PB. 154 
 155 
Councilman McDonald asked what is the specific change? 156 
 157 
Town Attorney Gallop stated the specific change can be found on page 2 line 40 “not adjacent 158 
to any other land under the same ownership” was the recommendation request, a 159 
recommendation with that language included in that spot. That is different than a vote to draft 160 
this and bring it back. The Planning Board’s vote to recommend with that change and that puts 161 
it in front of the board. 162 
 163 
Councilman McDonald thanked Attorney Gallop and questioned since Council sent it back has 164 
no action been taken on this ZTA by the Planning Board. He stated he has an issue with a full 165 
Council directing it to go back and now Council is bringing it back without giving the Planning 166 
Board a chance or opportunity to view it? He further stated, procedure wise it is not in line with 167 
what we decided. 168 
 169 
Town Attorney Gallop stated the Council direction was not to send it back to Planning Board 170 
but rather to give the Planning Board specific work and staff specific work on determining the 171 
non-conforming lots; consider that and come up with another recommendation, that will be 172 
different. He stated the motion was not related to this specific provision ordinance anyway. 173 
There was a public hearing, it had a recommendation from the Planning Board, and the board 174 
can either vote up or down on the motion or it can table it. He further stated he thought it is 175 
appropriately here from a procedural perspective for the board to consider. 176 



 
Southern Shores Council Meeting-March 5, 2019 

Page 5 of 7 
 

 177 
Mayor Bennett called for any further discussion. 178 
 179 
Councilman Conners stated he would like to add that he is deliberately trying to call a vote on 180 
this. He wants the residents to know that at least some Council Members are trying to solve the 181 
original problem, and work on this needs to continue. 182 
 183 
Councilman McDonald stated that is what we directed at our last meeting. 184 
 185 
Councilman Conners called the question and Mayor Bennett called for a vote. The motion failed 186 
(2-2) Councilman Conners and Mayor Bennett voting affirmative; Councilman Newberry and 187 
Councilman McDonald opposing. (Mayor pro tem Nason recused) 188 
 189 
 190 
NEXT AGENDA ITEM 191 
Proposal to Refer to Planning Board an Ordinance (To Be Drafted by Staff) Allowing for Sale 192 
or Development of Non-Conforming Lots at Least 20,000 SF in Area and Greater Than or Equal 193 
to 50 Feet in Width  194 
Mayor Bennett made a motion “have staff draft a ZTA for Planning Board consideration with 195 
proposed ordinance language that would allow the sale or development of a non-conforming 196 
lot that is at least twenty-thousand square feet in area and greater than or equal to 50’ feet in 197 
width”, called for a second and opened the floor for deliberations 198 
 199 
Councilman McDonald asked the Mayor if he would amend his motion to include less house 200 
size on different size lots. Mayor Bennett stated it would be cumbersome and chose to leave 201 
his motion as made. 202 
 203 
Councilman Newberry clarified that this would be going back to the Planning Board and Council 204 
was not voting on an ordinance this evening. Mayor Bennett confirmed that this was to go to 205 
the Planning Board for consideration. 206 
 207 
MOTION: Mayor Bennett moved again to have staff draft a ZTA for Planning Board 208 
consideration with proposed ordinance language that would allow the sale or development of a 209 
non-conforming lot that is at least twenty-thousand square feet in area and greater than or 210 
equal to 50’ feet in width. The motion was seconded by Councilman Conners. The motion 211 
passed unanimously (5-0). 212 
 213 
 214 
NEXT AGENDA ITEM 215 
A Discussion About the Membership and Composition of the CIIP Committee 216 
MOTION: Councilman Newberry moved to have the CIIP (Capital Infrastructure 217 
Improvement Planning Committee) be solely composed of citizen representatives and that the 218 
Councilmen currently on the CIIP should resign from it and their seats be filled by citizen 219 
representatives approved by the Council. The motion was seconded by Councilman McDonald. 220 
 221 



 
Southern Shores Council Meeting-March 5, 2019 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Councilman Newberry stated the Mayor and the Mayor pro tem are on the CIIP committee by 222 
default and that he did serve on that committee for a short time but has done a lot of 223 
rethinking and believes the committee should solely be made up of citizen representatives that 224 
should be able to identify, research and recommend capital improvement projects. This 225 
committee should have access to staff resources. Mr. Newberry stated it is pretty obvious 226 
Council members were influencing the committee. 227 
 228 
Councilman Nason stated it gets too political and unnecessary. He would rather see it 229 
abolished, getting Council off the committee, and allowing staff to do their job.  230 
 231 
Councilman Conners agrees with the politicizing and that the committee should be abolished 232 
and turned over to the Town Manager. 233 
 234 
Mayor Bennett stated the CIIP committee has been effective and works well. He is not in favor 235 
of abolishing the committee. 236 
 237 
Councilman McDonald stated it is hard to get community members involved and that the CIIP 238 
committee does not need to be dissolved. He agrees that Council is an influence on the 239 
committee and agrees with Councilman Newberry’s motion. 240 
 241 
Hearing no other comments Mayor Bennett called for a vote. The motion failed (2-3) 242 
Councilman Newberry and Councilman McDonald voting affirmative; Mayor Bennett, Mayor 243 
pro tem Nason and Councilman Conners opposing. 244 
 245 
 246 
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT 247 
Mayor Bennett again called for public comment and the following citizens offered comment: 248 

1. Ann Sjoerdsma-69 Hickory Trl-beach nourishment, rush to judgement and one month is 249 
not enough time to get word out. Council is doing a great disservice is they “pull the 250 
trigger’; on beach nourishment. The issue is whether Southern Shores needs it. 251 

 252 
 253 
MAYOR COMMENTS & COUNCIL COMMENTS  254 
Mayor Bennett reiterated that it is the County that has created this timeframe, window of 255 
opportunity. Southern Shores can join in or not. 256 
 257 
Councilman Newberry stated he would like to hear from the public on beach nourishment but is 258 
not ready to make a decision in April. 259 
 260 
Councilman Conners reminded the public of his meeting scheduled in the Pitts Center on March 261 
15th at 6pm on the possibility of a branch library in Southern Shores. 262 
 263 
Councilman McDonald asked that the beach nourishment public hearing be placed at the 264 
beginning of the agenda, so the public does not have to wait to be heard. He also asked the Mr. 265 
Haskett, Deputy Town Manager/Town Planner if the Town had an events ordinance. Mr. Haskett 266 



 
Southern Shores Council Meeting-March 5, 2019 

Page 7 of 7 
 

stated the ordinance addresses facilities where the primary function is to host events and to his 267 
knowledge the Town does not currently have any. 268 
 269 
Consensus of all Council, to place the beach nourishment public hearing ahead of staff reports on 270 
the April 2nd agenda. 271 
 272 
 273 
CLOSED SESSION- Request of the Town Attorney for a Closed Session pursuant to NCGS § 143-274 
318.11(a)(3): to consult with the Southern Shores Town Attorney to preserve the attorney-client 275 
privilege with regard to the matter of the Request of Gwendolyn Snyder-Smuts for a Hearing 276 
before the Town of Southern Shores Board of Adjustment to appeal a decision of the Town Zoning 277 
Administrator [APA-19-01]. 278 
 279 
ADJOURN 280 
MOTION: Upon returning from closed session and hearing no other business, Councilman 281 
McDonald moved to adjourn the meeting. The motion was seconded by Mayor pro tem Nason. 282 
The motion passed unanimously (5-0). The times was 8:21 p.m. 283 
 284 
ATTEST:       Respectfully submitted, 285 
 286 
______________________               _________________________ 287 
Thomas G. Bennett, Mayor                Sheila Kane, Town Clerk 288 



     BLANK













































    BLANK













































BLANK
















	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

